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February 10, 2021 

Lawrence Bierlein  
4701 Willard Avenue, #1204 
Chevy Chase, MD 20815 

Reference No. 20-0082 

Dear Mr. Bierlein: 

This letter is in response to your October 13, 2020, email and subsequent discussions with my 
staff requesting clarification of the Hazardous Materials Regulations (HMR; 49 CFR Parts 
171-180) applicable to the aqueous solution of alcohol exception in § 173.150(e). On behalf of 
your client, you ask whether a personal care gel composed of 64% water, 20% isopropyl 
alcohol, 1.2% ammonia solution, and several other non-hazardous components is eligible to be 
transported in accordance with the exception for aqueous solutions of alcohol in § 173.150(e). 
You state your understanding that the gel in question is not subject to the HMR in accordance 
with § 173.150(e).

The answer is yes. If the ammonia solution component, in the concentration present in the gel, 
does not meet the definition of “hazardous material” in § 171.8, then the presence of the 
ammonia solution component does not preclude the gel from eligibility for the exception in 
§ 173.150(e).

I hope this information is helpful.  Please contact us if we can be of further assistance. 

Sincerely,  

Dirk Der Kinderen 
Chief, Standards Development Branch 
Standards and Rulemaking Division 

CC: Mr. Rob Somers 

1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE 
Washington, DC 20590  



From: Kelley, Shane (PHMSA)
To: Dodd, Alice (PHMSA); Hillman, Kenetha CTR (PHMSA)
Cc: Foster, Glenn (PHMSA); DerKinderen, Dirk (PHMSA); Nickels, Matthew (PHMSA); Patrick, Eamonn (PHMSA)
Subject: FW: Request for a formal interpretation of the 24% alcohol exception
Date: Tuesday, October 13, 2020 4:39:51 PM
Attachments: Perrigo request for interpretation.docx

Perrigo request for interpretation.docx

Team

Please log for response.

I know we have a system for assignment but based on the fact Eamonn has a running start, would
like to request he be our lead on this response.  I would also like to be in the review chain as we
progress.

Thanks

From: Lawrence Bierlein <larry@hazmat-lawyer.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, October 13, 2020 4:07 PM
To: Schoonover, William (PHMSA) <william.schoonover@dot.gov>
Cc: Kelley, Shane (PHMSA) <shane.kelley@dot.gov>; Rob Somers <robert.somers@perrigo.com>;
'Alan Roberts' <aroberts@dgac.org>
Subject: Request for a formal interpretation of the 24% alcohol exception

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the Department of Transportation (DOT). Do not click on links or
open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Attached please find my request for a fresh review of the regulations in 49 CFR 173.150 and the issuance
of a formal interpretation in support of my client's use of the exception.

This exception came into effect in 1975.  I was the petitioner for it and Al Roberts managed the program
that issued it.  I recently advised him of the need for an updated interpretation, and he has noted he
agrees with my position.  He also asked if there was anyone he could call at DOT to discuss it.

I raised this subject initially with Shane Kelley, so he is copied on this filing.

Please do not hesitate to contact me on any aspect of my request.  Thank you.

Larry Bierlein
(202) 631-3222

Patrick

20-0082

mailto:shane.kelley@dot.gov
mailto:Alice.Dodd@dot.gov
mailto:kenetha.hillman.CTR@dot.gov
mailto:Glenn.Foster@dot.gov
mailto:Dirk.DerKinderen@dot.gov
mailto:Matthew.Nickels@dot.gov
mailto:eamonn.patrick@dot.gov

[image: top header]

October 13, 2020





Mr. William Schoonover

Associate Administrator (PHH-1)

Office of Hazardous Materials Safety

Pipeline & Hazardous Materials Safety Administration

U.S. Department of Transportation

Washington, DC 20590



						Re:	Request for formal interpretation



Dear Mr. Schoonover:



	On behalf of Perrigo, PLC of Allegan, Michigan, I hereby request a fresh PHMSA review of the history and intent of the 24% alcohol exception in 49 CFR 173.150(e).  Upon this review, I further request a formal letter of interpretation clarifying PHMSA’s position on this exception as it applies to one of this company’s products.



	The product is a personal care gel having the following components in the percentages noted, by volume:



		Diclofenac sodium USP

		1.00

		15307-79-6



		Isopropyl Alcohol, USP  

		20.00

		67-63-0



		Propylene Glycol, USP

		5.00

		57-55-6



		Cocoyl Caprylocaprate, EP

		2.50

		95912-86-0



		Mineral Oil, USP

		2.50

		8042-47-5



		Polyoxyl 20 Cetostearyl ether, NF

		2.00

		68439-49-6



		Carbomer Homopolymer Type C, NF

		1.60

		9003-01-4



		Ammonia Solution, Strong NF

		1.20

		7664-41-7



		Melt Away Fragrance

		0.10

		See MSDS attached



		Purified Water, USP

		64.10

		7732-18-5







	But for the exception in Sec. 173.150(e), this material would be classed as a flammable liquid because of the presence of 20% isopropanol.  The ammonia solution at less than 2% by volume is not a regulated hazardous material.  Water makes up more than 50%.



	Historical background of the 24% alcohol exception.  In the flammable and combustible liquids rulemaking in HM-102, DOT shifted from an open-cup test method to a closed-cup method.  This had the effect of bringing certain solutions into the regulations for the first time, because volatile ingredients evaporate first and are trapped in the closed device, thereby giving a positive reading.  These materials had not been DOT-regulated using the open-cup tester.



	An example was wine.  Another example that I brought to the agency in a request for an exception was a dishwashing liquid containing alcohol.  The lack of hazard of this detergent was demonstrated in a video showing it extinguishing a raging bonfire.  Other products affected by this rule had similar contents of water, alcohol, and trace ingredients for pH balance, flavor, fragrance, and cleaning effectiveness.



	The result of this effort was publication of a final rule in 1975, using the regulatory definition of wine as containing a majority percentage of water with no more than 24% alcohol by volume.  At that time, the exception was published in Sec. 173.115(b)(2) --



	“For the purposes of this subchapter, an aqueous solution containing 24 per cent or less alcohol by volume is considered to have a flash point no less than 100 degrees F. (37.8 degrees C) if the remainder of the solution does not meet the definition of a hazardous material as defined in this subchapter.”  (40 Fed. Reg. 22264; May 22, 1975; underlining added.)



	Although DOT has discarded its older interpretation files, I still have my copies including one issued by Dr. Mary Williams, the technical representative in HM-102.  Her January 20, 1977, letter to The Richardson Company, among other things said: “The solution without the alcohol must not meet the definition of any other class of hazardous material in 49 CFR.”  Other contemporary interpretations were consistent with her view and the wording of the regulation.



	In subsequent Docket No. HM-166N, the text of this exception was addressed but the final rule continued to read:



	“An aqueous solution containing 24 percent or less alcohol by volume is considered to have a flash point of no less than 100 degrees F. (37.8 degrees C.) if the remainder of the solution is not subject to this subchapter.”  (48 Fed. Reg 28095; June 20, 1983; underlining added.)



	In a 1988 rulemaking action in Docket No. HM-145, EPA-designated materials were incorporated into the DOT regulations.  At that time several categories were listed as Other Regulated Materials (ORM) and the environmental hazards were placed in ORM-E.  Operators of cargo tanks noted that their bulk loads containing less than 24% alcohol occasionally fit the new ORM-E class.  Because the flammability hazard was the same, they requested inclusion in HM-166W of “an exception for combustible liquids that do not meet the definition of any other hazard class except ORM-E.”  (53 Fed. Reg. 36410; Sept. 19, 1988; underlining added.)  Despite this clear statement in the preamble, the rule change itself injected some confusion, granting relief “if the remainder of the solution contains no material (other than an ORM-E) that is subject to this subchapter.”



	Docket No. HM-181 and interpretation.  In 1990, HM-181 restructured the regulations and the 24% alcohol exception moved from Sec. 173.115 to 173.150.  The notice of proposed rulemaking for a slightly re-worded exception made no reference to the remainder of the solution not meeting any other hazard class but, without explanation, in the final rule the wording we have today was adopted.  



	It is important to recognize that the problem in interpretation we are having today is not without precedent.  After the adoption of HM-181, a motor carrier inspector told Zeneca Specialties that trace amounts of formaldehyde disqualified the company from using the 24% exception.  In a letter dated January 20, 1995, the company told RSPA –



	“Our dilemma arises from conflicting interpretations of the regulations.  We currently offer this product as a ‘Combustible liquid, n.o.s. (Alcohol), 3, NA1993, PGIII,’ taking advantage of the alcohol exemption.  The Office of Motor Carrier Safety in Wisconsin… has stated that the alcohol exemption can not be utilized because the trace amount of formaldehyde found in the product also is a hazardous material.  He feels that 173.150(e) has no provision for deminimum amounts of non-alcoholic ingredients, thus the shipping name could not be used.”



	PHMSA’s current files include the regulatory specialist’s notes at that time, saying, “After checking with Charles Ke, I told [Zeneca] 0.15% formaldehyde is not considered a hazmat and does not prevent [Zeneca] from taking the 173.150(e)(1) exception.”  



	A written response was requested and was issued by Hattie Mitchell on November 3, 1995: “Based on the chemical composition of your material, the trace amount of formaldehyde (0.15%) in your product does not preclude reclassification as a combustible liquid.”



	Conclusion.  The law granting DOT the authority to regulate in 49 U.S. Code 5103(a) defines a hazardous material, saying “transporting the material in commerce in a particular amount and form” is one that poses an unreasonable risk to health, safety or the environment.  Accordingly, the DOT regulations and other nations’ codes examine a material “as shipped,” i.e., not by its ingredients but by the properties of the amount and form of the material transported in commerce.



	In 1975, the 24% alcohol provision was adopted in light of this statutory definition.  Without a “+” mark in Sec. 172.101, one looks to the regulatory definitions of each class to determine whether the material as shipped is regulated.  Those definitions lead to the conclusion that Perrigo’s gel qualifies for the exception.  As shipped it meets the composition limits of Sec. 173.150 and, but for the alcohol, does not meet the definition of any other hazard class.



	Please let me know if you have any questions on this request or the background information.  Thank you.



						Sincerely,



						Lawrence W. Bierlein





cc:	Shane Kelley (PHH-10)

	Rob Somers, Perrigo PLC

	Alan I. Roberts, retired PHMSA
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